Draft 1 15 /07/2014

NIHR HTA Programme 10.7.14

The clinical effectiveness of behaviour change interventions to reduce risky sexual behaviour after a negative HIV test in men who have sex with men (MSM): a systematic review

Contact name and numbers

Sponsor	Institute Director, Institute for Applied Health Research							
Principle Investigator	Professor Paul Flowers							
	Professor of Sexual Health Psychology							
	Institute for Applied Health Research							
	School of Health and Life Sciences							
	Glasgow Caledonian University							
	Cowcaddens Road							
	Glasgow							
	G4 OBA							
	Phone: +44 (0)141 331 8617							
	Email: P.Flowers@gcu.ac.uk							
Co-Investigators								
	Professor Olivia Wu, Glasgow University Olivia Wu (Olivia.Wu@glasgow.ac.uk)							
	Dr Dan Clutterbuck, Chalmers Centre (daniel.clutterbuck@nhs.net)							
	Dr Karen Lorimer, Glasgow Caledonian University (K.Lorimer@gcu.ac.uk)							
	Professor Sharon Hutchinson, Glasgow Caledonian University (Sharon.Hutchinson@gcu.ac.uk)							
	Professor Lawrie Elliott Napier University (I.elliott@napier.ac.uk)							
	Dr Lisa McDaid Glasgow University (lisa.mcdaid@glasgow.ac.uk)							
	Dr Ann Sullivan, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NH Foundation Trust (ann.sullivan@chelwest.nhs.uk)							
	Dr Michael Rayment, Homerton University Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust, (michaelrayment@nhs.net)							

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Explanation
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ART	Anti-retroviral treatment
BCT	Behaviour change techniques
ССТ	Controlled clinical trial
HAART	highly active antiretroviral therapy
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
MSM	Men who have sex with men
PLWHIV	People living with HIV
PrEP	pre exposure prophylaxis
RCT	Randomised controlled trial

Table of Contents

Background and Rationale	6
Rationale for a focus on behaviour change techniques	7
Research aim and objectives	8
Research Plan	8
Design and theoretical/conceptual framework	
Health technologies being assessed	
Study eligibility criteria	
Types of intervention	
Types of study	9
Search Strategy	
Data Extraction and Assessment of Risk of Bias	10
Synthesis of Results	11
Classification of behavioural change techniques	11
Theory coding	11
Treatment fidelity	11
Statistical methods	11
Synthesis of findings and identification of candidate interventions	12
Dissemination and project outputs	14
Project timetable and milestones	15
Patient and Public Involvement	16
References	17

Background and Rationale

New diagnoses among MSM in the UK have been increasing since 2007 with 3,010 reports in 2011 (48% of all new diagnoses), representing an all-time high (HPA 2012). Annual UK population treatment costs in 2006 were £483 million, rising to £683 million when taking into account community care costs (Mandalia et al., 2010). Average annual treatment costs across all stages of HIV infection in the UK in 2006 ranged from £18,087 for people living with HIV (PLHIV) on mono-therapy, to £32,322 for those on quadruple-or-more antiretroviral therapies (ART); projected annual cost were between £721 and £758 million by 2013 (Mandalia et al., 2010). It has been estimated that each infection prevented would save between £280,000 and £360,000 lifetime treatment costs (HPA 2011). Transmission of HIV among MSM is on-going in the UK, and remains substantial. Within the last year new biomedical approaches to prevention, such as pre exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) have become available to negative MSM in the USA, and in the UK it is proposed that home testing for HIV will be legalised in early 2014. These advances in biomedical HIV prevention have reinvigorated behavioural approaches to HIV prevention.

There is clear evidence-based guidance available concerning the need and general scope of individual-level behavioural change interventions, much of it produced by the project team (e.g., Clutterbuck et al., 2012; Flowers et al., 2012). There is a systematic review evidence base, which has assessed the effectiveness of behavioural approaches to HIV prevention (e.g., Herbst et al., 2007, Johnson et al., 2008, Berg 2009), and this indicates 'what works' – the overall effectiveness of interventions at reducing risks for HIV when compared with usual care (Sullivan et al., 2012). Many of these reviews analysed the effectiveness of interventions delivered at the individual level, which on the face of it seems to suggest there is no current need to repeat these analyses, particularly if there have not been high quality up-to-date published trials since 2008 that would warrant a re-run of these searches and review update. There are, however, a variety of gaps and recent innovations that suggest an up-to-date evidence synthesis is now warranted.

Firstly, there is a lack of very specific direction concerning which interventions, or which elements of effective interventions, should be employed therein (Lorimer et al., 2013). Within the field of HIV prevention amongst MSM there is a history of analysing the effectiveness of interventions according to gross categories of delivery method (e.g., group based vs. individual level) rather than examining the components that moderate intervention effects. For example, Herbst et al., (2007) systematically reviewed the effectiveness of individual-, group- and community-level HIV behaviour change interventions for adult MSM, and included four studies of individual-level interventions with 4,689 participants. The review indicated the effectiveness of individual-level behaviour change interventions for HIV prevention, but it, along with others (Herbst et al., 2005, Johnson et al., 2008, Berg 2009), fails to elucidate what works best, in which context, how and with whom. They also include evidence from pre-1997, prior to the introduction of antiretrovirals (for example, 24 of the 44 interventions included in a 2008 Cochrane review were conducted pre-1997; Johnson et al., 2008). The widespread availability of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) from 1996/97 transformed the meaning of HIV infection from fatal disease to a chronic manageable condition (Flowers et al., 2001), radically changing the perceived severity of HIV and calling into question the transferability of evidence across the history of the epidemic.

Secondly, there is also little information concerning the viability of exploring a range of intervention delivery options, or the use of interventions within the growing range of settings in

which HIV testing is now offered. Although, evidence is beginning to filter through: exploratory research suggests acceptability towards rapid HIV testing at home (Chen et al., 2010); a review is currently underway exploring the effect of modifiers (e.g. location of testing, population, link to treatment etc.) on rapid HIV testing and treatment outcomes (Pottie et al., 2011); and a report that non-clinic approaches to HIV prevention interventions, involving the Internet, are as efficacious as face-to-face approaches (Noar et al., 2009), but this is a rapidly changing landscape in which evidence is quickly outdated (for example, as MSM move from using one website to another, affecting feasibility and acceptability assessments of interventions, particularly for those operating within the MRC's guidance on developing complex interventions adhering to each step; Craig et al., 2008).

Thirdly, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines regarding HIV testing are increasingly dated and do not go far enough in terms of specifying details of behavioural interventions (NICE 2011). These reasons may, in part, help explain the current poor provision of behavioural interventions to MSM reporting significant levels of HIV risk within the UK (Desai et al., 2013).

Fourthly, we believe there is an historical imperative to restrict our focus on intervention studies conducted after ART became widely available in the UK, hence altering the context in which an HIV diagnosis may be seen by an individual (i.e., a radical shift to a manageable chronic condition) and the subsequent major changes in HIV testing policy and behaviour in the UK, which followed circa 2000.

Below we detail how our initial scoping review suggests the need for a review process which balances scientific rigour with a pragmatic focus upon the need for clear direction in terms of intervention development. We argue that, given the current state of the available evidence synthesis and the urgent need for more specific guidance tailored to an ever more complex world of HIV prevention and HIV risk-related behaviour, we need both an inclusive focussed mixed method evidence review and a team of subject experts to identify candidate interventions.

Rationale for a focus on behaviour change techniques

Behavioural change techniques are described as 'the smallest component compatible with retaining the postulated active ingredients that is, the proposed mechanisms of change, and can be used alone or in combination with other BCTs' (Michie and Johnson, 2012, p3). There is growing evidence of the feasibility and value of using BCT taxonomies to review behaviour change interventions (e.g., Michie et al., 2009). Within the field of HIV prevention amongst MSM there is a history of analysing the effectiveness of interventions according to gross categories of delivery method (e.g., group based vs. individual level) rather than examining the components that moderate intervention effects. Heterogeneity within pooled outcome data is also commonly reported (e.g., Avenell et al., 2004) suggesting the need for much more detailed analysis of intra-intervention factors. To date there has been very little domain specific developments of BCTs in relation to HIV risk reduction and no specific examination of the literature regarding MSM and HIV risk behaviours (the SHARP-ICCS taxonomy focussed upon general populations and condom use; Abraham et al., 2011). We propose to extract all the available data concerning the role of BCTs within the existing evidence of effectiveness of individual level interventions amongst MSM which address HIV risk reduction rather than condom use alone (see inclusion criteria and outcome section below). We propose to conduct a series of further analyses to elucidate new and useful knowledge for further research and intervention development. These are concerned with the associations of the number, clustering and role of individual BCTs with effectiveness, the role of theory in relation to effectiveness and, given the growing evidence from other domains that interventions using BCTs predicted by theory are more effective than those that are not we propose to examine whether theory

congruent BCTs are more effective than those which are not (Dombrowski et al., 2012, Taylor et al., 2012).

Research aim and objectives

Research question: What is the clinical effectiveness of behaviour change interventions to reduce risky sexual behaviour after a negative HIV test in men who have sex with men (MSM)?

The specific objectives are to:

- Conduct a systematic review of the effectiveness of behaviour change interventions to reduce risky sexual behaviour after a negative HIV test in MSM;
- Conduct a network meta-analysis to assess which particular component or components: (1) the mode of delivery, (2) the number of BCTs, (3) the type of BCTs and (4) theory-congruent clusters of BCTs, are effective in reducing HIV risk related behaviour;
- Organise and host an expert event to enable the synthesis and translation of findings.

Research Plan

Design and theoretical/conceptual framework

The research is an evidence synthesis, which will consist of a systematic review, meta-analysis of direct, indirect and networked evidence with embedded BCT taxonomy and theory coding analyses (details below). By using network meta-analysis, multiple comparisons (of interventions or components of interventions) can be compared simultaneously in one analysis, while preserving the randomised structure of the evidence (Welton et al., 2009).

Health technologies being assessed

The specific health technology focus of this proposal is individual motivational behaviour change interventions, and their component parts (i.e., BCTs), offered in HIV testing, to MSM who test negative. They can be brief individual, single or multisession, delivered anywhere, in any modality. Particular attention will be paid to any control groups (no interventions, standard of care, alternative interventions), modes of delivery, dose effects, and to the risk assessment criteria applied for inclusion, in order to inform the design and application of candidate interventions.

Thus, given the complexity of the field in relation to established and concurrent technologies we propose to focus within the evidence pertaining to individual level interventions alone and to focus on the rigorous extraction of novel information within this literature.

Study eligibility criteria

Types of population

MSM of any age, ethnicity, who have tested for HIV and received negative results. Studies that focus exclusively on commercial sex workers; trans people; victims of sexual or domestic abuse or violence; intravenous drug users; those in prison, psychiatric facilities or nursing homes; or individuals with no fixed address will be excluded as these groups have distinct needs beyond the scope of the review. Following Johnson et al., (2008) we will include only

studies in which MSM constituted at least one-third of the study sample (e.g., HIVseronegative) or were specifically targeted by the intervention. When other populations are included, we will either obtain outcome data for the MSM subset or reduce the study weight to reflect only the proportion who were MSM.

Types of intervention

Individual-level, motivational interview-based interventions designed to promote sexual risk reduction and thereby to reduce transmission of HIV. There will be no restriction on the type of intervention setting or mode of delivery or MSM population (e.g., recreational drug/alcohol users).

Brief*, individual-level behaviour change interventions aiming to reduce HIV risk related behaviour that assess the effectiveness at follow-up at least once from baseline will be considered. Particular attention will be paid to examining dose effects and the numbers of times that interventions are delivered.

*We define brief as any therapeutic or preventive consultation of short duration (one to five sessions) undertaken by a health-care professional, general practitioner, nurse or other trained professional. We will consider even the briefest interventions (e.g., 30 min) as long as they meet the inclusion criteria.

Outcomes – all short, medium and long-term outcomes:

- Behavioural approaches which are known to reduce the risk of HIV acquisition; condom use across all time periods; approaches such as negotiated safety; the uptake and adherence to PrEP; or combinations of the above;
- Biological HIV/STI incidence;
- Learning HIV/STI knowledge; condom application skills;
- Cognition condom use self-efficacy; condom-related attitudes or beliefs; HIV/STI risk perception; negotiated safety self-efficacy, PrEP self-efficacy;
- Economic All outcomes relating to cost-effectiveness analysis (e.g., costs; outcomes relating to health benefits such as quality adjusted life years, life years, or disability adjusted life years).

Types of study

We will include randomised controlled trials (RCTs) for evidence of effectiveness and economic evaluations for evidence of cost-effectiveness (including cost-effectiveness, cost-utility and cost-benefit analyses).

Studies with the following control conditions will be eligible for inclusion in the review:

- Participants were on a waiting list to receive the intervention under study;
- Participants continued to receive 'usual care';
- Participants received a lesser dose or only some of the core components of the intervention under study (minimal intervention);
- Participants received an entirely different intervention from that under study.

Study design - All comparative studies comparing two or more interventions, i.e., RCTs or controlled clinical trials (CCTs) will be considered for inclusion in the review. In addition, all economic evaluations (e.g., cost-effectiveness analysis; cost-utility analysis; cost benefit analysis) will also be considered.

Search Strategy

Existing search strategies from previous guidelines and systematic reviews will be examined and a revised strategy will be developed through consultation with a subject librarian. We anticipate a four-part search strategy: firstly, we will search electronic bibliographic databases for published work (these will include CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Embase, MEDLINE and PsychINFO); secondly, we will search "grey" literature for work that is not published in books or journals (e.g., recent conference abstracts or CDC websites); thirdly, we will search trials registers for ongoing and recently completed trials, and; finally, we will search reference lists of published studies, conduct citation searches of key studies (tracked through Web of Science), contact the authors of included studies for further information where necessary (for example, training manuals, intervention manuals, detailed descriptions, fidelity measures), and seek input from the project advisory group. All databases will be searched from 2000; no language restrictions will be applied.

We will develop a sensitivity-maximising search strategy to locate relevant studies, but will employ a sensitivity- and precision-maximising version instead if the former retrieves an unmanageable number of references (Glanville et al., 2006). Relevant search filters, for specific study designs, identified by the InterTASC Information Specialists Sub-Group (ISSG) will be incorporated into the search strategy (https://sites.google.com/a/york.ac.uk/issg-search-filters-resource/home/search-filters-by-design). The specifications of the electronic search will involve controlled vocabulary (e.g., MeSH or indexing terms) and keywords in four areas: (1) HIV, AIDS, or sexually transmitted disease (infection); (2) prevention research methods (e.g., intervention, evaluation, education); (3) sex risk behaviours and biological outcomes; and (4) target population (e.g., MSM).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria will be applied successively to titles and abstracts by one reviewer. Full reports will be obtained for those studies that appear to meet the criteria or where there is insufficient information from the title and abstract. Full reports will be assessed by two reviewers independently. Disagreements will be resolved through discussion and recourse to a third reviewer if necessary (the lead applicant or one of the co-applicants). A PRISMA-style flow chart will be used to document the numbers of studies included and excluded at each stage of the review.

Data Extraction and Assessment of Risk of Bias

We will extract data from all full text studies that fulfil the inclusion criteria. Any further discrepancies will be resolved by discussion or by adjudication by a third reviewer (the lead applicant or one of the co-applicants).

A standardised framework will be devised, and data extraction will be undertaken by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer. We will describe all studies that meet the inclusion criteria, in terms of:

Study design: Trial design and quality, data collection methods, modes and techniques; validity of tools; adherence to protocol (we will attempt to retrieve protocols from searches, including by contacting authors); statistical and other analyses.

Participants (intervention and control): Demographic characteristics (e.g., age, ethnicity)

Intervention: Setting and recruitment methods; components of the intervention (including BCTs employed), details of modes of delivery and any other aspects of content; frequency, intensity

and duration of the intervention; theoretical framework employed in intervention design (see below)

Outcomes – all short, medium and long-term outcomes (described above). Data from intention to treat analysis will be preferred over results from analysis of completers only.

Cost-effectiveness outcomes – all data relating to cost-effectiveness analysis will also be recorded. This will include the type of economic evaluation undertaken (i.e. cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-utility analysis, or cost benefit analysis) and a description of the model used. In addition, intervention costs, incremental cost per HIV infection averted, incremental cost per quality-adjusted life years (QALY) saved, or incremental cost per disability-adjusted life years (DALY) saved for each intervention compared with the comparator will also be recorded.

The risk of bias in individual studies will be assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of bias assessment (Higgins et al., 2011). The Cochrane assessment requires a judgement to be made by the review authors on the likely risk of bias arising from trial design: methods of randomisation sequence generation and allocation concealment; blinding; adequate assessment of incomplete data; comparability of groups at baseline; and whether treatments were adequately described. We will not exclude any studies but will provide a narrative discussion, highlighting the strengths and limitations of the evidence base.

Synthesis of Results

Classification of behavioural change techniques

Description of behavioural change intervention content will be coded, using a 93-item revised version of the Taxonomy of generally applicable BCTs proposed by (Michie et al., 2009). Interrater reliability of identified BCTs will be assessed using Cohen's κ statistic.

Theory coding

The Theory Coding Scheme (TCS) suggested by Michie and Prestwich (2010) will be applied. This focuses upon 19 items categorising the role of theory within interventions across 6 dimensions, including coding whether a theory or model was mentioned, how theories were used in intervention design, how intervention evaluations tested theory, and the implications of the results for future theory development (Michie and Prestwich 2010).

Treatment fidelity

A 30-item Treatment Fidelity Checklist (Borrelli 2011) will be applied to intervention descriptions/manuals to assess whether methodological strategies are in place with regard to the following five areas: study design (7 items); interventionist training (7 items); intervention delivery (9 items); intervention receipt (5 items); and intervention enactment (two items). Percentage scores for each section will reflect the proportion of items with evidence of at least one treatment fidelity strategy. An overall summary score of \geq 80% will represent an intervention with a high treatment fidelity rating (Borrelli et al., 2005).

Statistical methods

Individual study characteristics and outcomes will be summarised and presented in an evidence table. Narrative synthesis of evidence will be carried out on the cost-effectiveness data. Where appropriate data are available, pairwise meta-analysis of behavioural change

interventions will be carried out, based on the random effects model (DerSimonian and Laird 1986); this is based on the assumption that the effects being estimated in the included studies are not identical, but follow the same distribution. For dichotomous outcomes, odds ratios, and for continuous outcomes, standardised mean difference, with 95% confidence intervals will be calculated. Statistical heterogeneity and the extent of inconsistency between the study findings will be investigated and assessed using the Higgins I² and the variance estimate τ^2 . Funnel plots will be used to examine potential publication bias and small study effects. In addition, graphical augmented funnel plots will be used to assess the robustness of the findings of the meta-analysis by estimating the potential impact of future additional evidence on the current meta-analysis (Langan et al., 2012).

In order to examine the potential relationship between the mode of delivery, BCT and theorycongruent clusters, and treatment effects, pairwise and indirect comparisons of the components of the interventions (according to the proposed coding described above) will be carried out. Indirect comparisons require any two treatments to have a common comparator, or a link through a chain of comparisons. In other words, a chosen baseline treatment can be indirectly compared to another treatment, provided there is at least one "connecting" comparison. For example, consider three treatments labelled A, B and C. If we let d_{AC} denote the direct comparison of treatment A with treatment C, and d_{BC} denote the direct comparison of treatment B with treatment C, then a crude estimate for the relative (indirect) comparison of treatment A with treatment B could be $\hat{d}_{AB} = d_{AC} - d_{BC}$. Therefore, given the known direct evidence of the effect of treatments A and B compared to treatment C, we can indirectly estimate the effect of treatment A compared to treatment B, where treatment C is the "connecting" treatment.

Subsequently, we will use Bayesian random effects network meta-analysis based on minimally informative prior distributions, to incorporate both direct and indirect evidence into our analysis. This will follow the general principles set out by the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics Outcomes Research (ISPOR) Taskforce (Hoaglin et al., 2011, Jansen et al., 2011). For trials with multiple arms, an adjustment will be made in the analysis to account for the correlation between the effect estimates for each pair of arms within each trial. We will report the median of the posterior distribution along with 95% credible intervals (95%Crl). In addition, treatments were ranked to provide a probability of each treatment being considered the best in each outcome. Three sets of starting values were used, which will be burnt-in until convergence is reached (approximate 5000 Markov Chain Monte Carlo iterations), based on the Gelman-Rubin-Brooke statistic. A further 20,000 iterations will be run and the sampled values were used to estimate posterior means and credible intervals for response probabilities and odds ratios. We also explore the effect of using different priors was investigated for the variance distributions, since it has been suggested that, with small amounts of data, results may be sensitive to the chosen priors

Where appropriate, random effects meta-regression will also be undertaken in the pairwise and network meta-analysis (Dias et al., 2013) to examine potential confounders and effect modifiers. We acknowledge that meta-regression based on aggregate data and study-level covariates generally suffer from low power; therefore, we will ensure only a small number of covariates (selected based on sound clinical rationale) are used. All analysis will be performed using Stata release 11 (StataCorp) and WinBUGS 1.4.3 (MRC Biostatistics Unit 2007).

Synthesis of findings and identification of candidate interventions

There are two steps involved within our overarching synthesis of the evidence and the identification of candidate interventions. Firstly, the results of the systematic review will be

presented using the PRISMA reporting guidelines (Moher et al., 2009), including a PRISMA checklist and flowchart. We will develop an appropriate presentation of results of the network meta-analysis according to the ISPOR Taskforce guidance', and simultaneously illustrate the relative strengths and weakness associated with each BCT, theory congruent BCTs and named intervention. This matrix will detail the patterning of effectiveness at various levels. At this point in time it is not possible to specify exactly the level of detail that will be available as this is constrained by both the number of studies identified and the willingness of key researchers to share intervention descriptions and manuals. We anticipate the matrix will include evidence of effectiveness at the level of the named interventions described within the literature); and given the results of the network meta-analysis, effectiveness at the various levels of BCTs and modes of delivery.

Secondly, we will organize and hold a single day expert event to enable further analysis of candidate interventions in relation to real world feasibility and acceptability. This will also enable the translation of the findings of the systematic review into candidate intervention(s) ready for manualisation and a Phase III feasibility study. As part of the preparation for the event, each member of the advisory group will offered specific training by the team and be sent the matrix of results outlined above, and asked to digest and consider its implications for contemporary and future service provision. Within a specified design brief and proforma, they will be asked to individually develop an evidence based individual motivational behaviour change intervention for negative men concerning '*How to stay negative*'. Each member will be prepared to present it to the advisory group meeting for discussion, critique and collective development. They will be asked to detail the strengths and weakness of their approaches according to the following criteria:

- Is it evidence based with direct and auditable development clearly relating to the insights generated through the systematic review?
- Is it theory driven?
- Is it potentially suited (including acceptability) to a diverse range of MSM in the UK, for example those from different social, economic and ethnic backgrounds, those with disabilities, those working in the sex industry, and those with different sexual orientations e.g., bi-sexual?
- Could it be delivered in a way that encourages access and uptake, for example is delivered in community settings, or uses new technologies such as digital media?
- Does it fit with existing service provision in the UK, including that provided by the NHS, private providers and other sectors such as voluntary organisations, including acceptability by staff and across varied geographical areas (e.g., urban and rural settings)?
- Could it be delivered within existing budgets; if so, are their associate opportunity costs; if not, would the potential cost, including training, be prohibitive?
- Does it provide access to more specialist services such as STI treatment, and psychological support?

The morning session at the one-day expert event will be dedicated to the multiple presentations of these individual intervention ideas. Detailed records of emerging consensus, areas of disagreement and areas of innovation will be simultaneously systematically recorded. The afternoon session will involve the whole group, during which the ideas presented will be mapped and synthesized to identify candidate interventions.

Essential criteria

Candidate interventions must have demonstrable effectiveness (identified through in order of ranking, specific theory congruent BCTs, individual BCTs, clusters of BCTs, numbers of BCTs,

overall effectiveness), be cost effective, suitable to diverse HIV prevention approaches (not only the promotion of condom use), be fit for the future

Desirable criteria

Candidate interventions should be able to be easily implemented within a range of settings (without losing fidelity), be affordable, require minimal expert training, be delivered through self-care and via diverse modalities (smart phones) and be capable of implementation across diverse settings which include the patient's home setting.

This event is not being framed as dissemination: it is a crucial final stage of the synthesis; with the findings from this event being fed into the review work for the final report.

Dissemination and project outputs

We will develop a targeted multimedia engagement and dissemination strategy which focuses on the primary beneficiaries of this research: researchers working on intervention development and evaluation within this field: those commissioning services relating to interventions to reduce risky sexual behaviour; the growing range of testing and prevention providers, including healthcare professionals, policy makers and policy organisations, and; communities of gay and other MSM.

The results will be reported in a final report to the HTA programme. The report will clearly outline the methods used in the evidence synthesis and summarise the key findings, including the review of effectiveness and meta-analysis of direct, indirect and networked evidence with embedded behaviour change technique (BCT) taxonomy and theory coding analyses. This will provide evidence, which is currently lacking, of what works best, in which context, how and with whom. This information will extend the knowledge base and provide new understanding vital for future intervention development and evaluation and for service commissioning and delivery. At least one scholarly article will be prepared for publication in a peer-reviewed, open access journal.

Findings will be presented at clinical, non-clinical, and MSM-focussed national and international conferences. A briefing paper will be developed in an accessible language in various formats and circulated to key stakeholders via traditional and social media. We will work reciprocally with the project's Advisory Group to identify key stakeholders and their networks, in order to disseminate the final report, article(s) and briefing. We will disseminate findings to these and to the British HIV Association and British Association of Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH), and other stakeholders such as the National AIDS Trust, NICE, and HIV patient advocacy groups such as Terrence Higgins Trust and HIV Scotland. The project team have excellent well established links with all these groups. Public engagement and dissemination to gay and other MSM in the UK will be undertaken via community events such as regional Pride Festivals. We will use the Sexual Health Research Network (www.sexualhealthnetwork.org.uk), of which KL and LM are co-founding members, to engage with the UK research community, and others, including via blogs and podcasts (left open for comments).

Project timetable and milestones

The project timetable takes into account the average 35 days of annual leave (plus 10 public holidays) for the RA, and the festive period the project straddles, in order to set realistic and manageable timescales and milestones to ensure a thorough and high quality review.

	Month number											
	1 Aug	2 Sept	3 Oct	4 Nov	5 Dec	6 Jan	7 Feb	8 Mar	9 Apr	10 May	11 June	12 July
Finalise protocol and search strategy												
Conduct searches and screening												
Study selection and retrieval												
Contact authors and finalise data												
Data extraction												
Data analysis												
Expert event and final synthesis												
Write up and dissemination												

Patient and Public Involvement

Our advisory group will be constituted by both patients and other members of the public. We have invited negative and positive MSM onto the Advisory Group Board (the BASHH public panel has already agreed to assist) and have invited a variety of key stakeholders to also take part. We will draw upon our connections and good relationships with leading organisations within the field and have already asked for representation from the National AIDS Trust, Terrence Higgins Trust, Gay men fighting AIDS, Gay Men's Health. Should the proposal prove successful we will also ask HIV service commissioners in Scotland, England, Northern Ireland and Wales and HIV testing providers in urban rural and remote settings.

Patients and members of the public will be supported and mentored on a one to one basis by one of the co-applicants or fellow advisory group member, to ensure their voice is effectively heard and their experience is a positive one. To achieve this, four members of the public will be invited and supported on the project Advisory Group. They will be recompensed for their time, experience and expertise. These members will be recruited from Scotland, Glasgow (n=2) and England, London (n=2) from both clinical testing (n=2) and community testing (n=2) sites. Each will have tested for HIV within the previous year (this will be clear on the recruitment poster). We propose to recruit these members of the project advisory group through fliers and posters placed within testing sites and through a brief interview conducted by an interview panel consisting of one member of the research team in each location plus one member of the project advisory group. The interview will ensure that the person does not have previous professional experiences as a patient representative or involvement within other research teams and is aware of the responsibility, commitment, time frame and opportunities that being on the project Advisory group entails.

References

- Abraham, C., A. Good, M. Warren, T. Huedo-Medina and B. Johnson (2011). "Developing and testing a SHARP taxonomy of behaviour change techniques included in condom promotion interventions." <u>Psychology & Health</u> 26(Suppl. 2): 299.
- Albarracin, D., J. C. Gillette, A. N. Earl, L. R. Glasman, M. R. Durantini and M. H. Ho (2005). "A test of major assumptions about behavior change: A comprehensive look at the effects of passive and active HIV-prevention interventions since the beginning of the epidemic." <u>Psychol Bull</u> **131**(6): 856-897.
- Avenell, A., J. Broom, T. Brown, A. Poobalan, L. Aucott, S. Stearns, W. Smith, R. Jung, M. Campbell and A. Grant (2004). "Systematic review of the long-term effects and economic consequences of treatments for obesity and implications for health improvement." <u>Health Technology Assessment</u> 8(21).
- Berg, R. (2009). "The effectiveness of behavioural and psychosocial HIV/STI prevention interventions for MSM in Europe: A systematic review." <u>Euro surveillance</u> **14**(48): pp.19430.
- Bertrand, J. T. and R. Anhang (2006). "The effectiveness of mass media in changing HIV/AIDS-related behaviour among young people in developing countries." <u>World Health</u> <u>Organization technical report series</u> **938**: 205-241.
- Bertrand, J. T., K. O'Reilly, J. Denison, R. Anhang and M. Sweat (2006). "Systematic review of the effectiveness of mass communication programs to change HIV/AIDS-related behaviors in developing countries." <u>Health Education Research</u> 21(4): 567-597.
- Borrelli, B. (2011). "The assessment, monitoring and enhancement of treatment fidelity in public health clinical trials." Journal of Public Health Dentistry **71**: S52-S63.
- Borrelli, B., D. Sepinwall, D. Ernst, A. J. Bellg, S. Czajkowski, R. Breger, C. DeFrancesco, C. Levesque, D. L. Sharp and G. Ogedegbe (2005). "A new tool to assess treatment fidelity and evaluation of treatment fidelity across 10 years of health behavior research." <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u> **73**(5): 852.
- Chen, M. Y., J. E. Bilardi, D. Lee, R. Cummings, M. Bush and C. K. Fairley (2010). "Australian men who have sex with men prefer rapid oral HIV testing over conventional blood testing for HIV." <u>Int J STD AIDS</u> 21(6): 428-430.
- Clutterbuck, D. J., P. Flowers, T. Barber, H. Wilson, M. Nelson, B. Hedge, S. Kapp, A. Fakoya and A. K. Sullivan (2012). "UK national guideline on safer sex advice." <u>International</u> journal of STD & AIDS **23**(6): 381-388.
- Coates, T. J., L. Richter and C. Caceres (2008). "Behavioural strategies to reduce HIV transmission: how to make them work better." <u>The Lancet</u> **372**(9639): 669-684.
- Craig, P., P. Dieppe, S. Macintyre, S. Michie, I. Nazareth and M. Petticrew (2008). "Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance." <u>BMJ</u> 337: 979-983.
- DerSimonian, R. and N. Laird (1986). "Meta-analysis in clinical trials." <u>Controlled clinical trials</u> **7**(3): 177-188.
- Desai, M., S. Desai, A. K. Sullivan, M. Mohabeer, D. Mercey, M. A. Kingston, C. Thng, S. McCormack, O. N. Gill and A. Nardone (2013). "Audit of HIV testing frequency and behavioural interventions for men who have sex with men: policy and practice in sexual health clinics in England." <u>Sexually Transmitted Infections</u>.
- Dias, S., A. J. Sutton, N. J. Welton and A. Ades (2013). "Evidence Synthesis for Decision Making 3 Heterogeneity—Subgroups, Meta-Regression, Bias, and Bias-Adjustment." <u>Medical Decision Making</u> 33(5): 618-640.
- Dombrowski, S. U., F. F. Sniehotta, A. Avenell, M. Johnston, G. MacLennan and V. Araújo-Soares (2012). "Identifying active ingredients in complex behavioural interventions for

obese adults with obesity-related co-morbidities or additional risk factors for comorbidities: a systematic review." <u>Health Psychology Review</u> **6**(1): 7-32.

- Flowers, P. (2012). Good Practice Guidance on HIV Prevention in Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) http://www.researchgate.net/publication/233790526_Good_Practice_Guidance_on_HIV _Prevention_in_Men_who_have_Sex_with_Men_%28MSM%29_Health_Protection_Net work Scottish Guidance.
- Glanville, J. M., C. Lefebvre, J. N. V. Miles and J. Camosso-Stefinovic (2006). "How to identify randomized controlled trials in MEDLINE: ten years on." <u>Journal of the Medical Library</u> <u>Association</u> **94**(2): 130.
- Herbst, J., C. Beeker, A. Mathew, T. McNally, W. Passin, L. Kay, N. Crepaz, C. Lyles, P. Briss, S. Chattopadhyay, R. Johnson and S. Task Force on Community Preventive (2007).
 "The effectiveness of individual-, group-, and community-level HIV behavioral risk-reduction interventions for adult men who have sex with men: a systematic review." American Journal of Preventive Medicine **32**(4 Suppl): S38-67.
- Herbst, J. H., R. Sherba, N. Crepaz, J. B. DeLuca, L. Zohrabyan, R. D. Stall and C. M. Lyles (2005). "A Meta-Analytic Review of HIV Behavioral Interventions for Reducing Sexual Risk Behavior of Men Who Have Sex With Men." <u>JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune</u> <u>Deficiency Syndromes</u> **39**(2): 228-241.
- Higgins, J. P. T., S. Green and C. Collaboration (2011). <u>Cochrane handbook for systematic</u> reviews of interventions, Wiley Online Library.
- Hoaglin, D. C., N. Hawkins, J. P. Jansen, D. A. Scott, R. Itzler, J. C. Cappelleri, C. Boersma, D. Thompson, K. M. Larholt, M. Diaz and A. Barrett (2011). "Conducting Indirect-Treatment-Comparison and Network-Meta-Analysis Studies: Report of the ISPOR Task Force on Indirect Treatment Comparisons Good Research Practices: Part 2." <u>Value in</u> <u>Health</u> 14(4): 429-437.
- HPA (2011). Health Protection Agency, HIV in the United Kingdom: 2011 Report. London, Health Protection Agency.
- HPA (2012). Health Protection Agency, HIV in the United Kingdom: 2012 Report. London, Health Protection Agency.
- Jansen, J. P., R. Fleurence, B. Devine, R. Itzler, A. Barrett, N. Hawkins, K. Lee, C. Boersma, L. Annemans and J. C. Cappelleri (2011). "Interpreting indirect treatment comparisons and network meta-analysis for health-care decision making: report of the ISPOR Task Force on Indirect Treatment Comparisons Good Research Practices: part 1." <u>Value in Health</u> **14**(4): 417-428.
- Johnson, W. D., R. M. Diaz, W. D. Flanders, M. Goodman, A. N. Hill, D. Holtgrave, R. Malow and W. M. McClellan (2008). "Behavioral interventions to reduce risk for sexual transmission of HIV among men who have sex with men." <u>Cochrane Database of</u> Systematic Reviews(3): CD001230.
- Knussen, C., P. Flowers, L. M. McDaid and G. J. Hart (2011). "HIV-related sexual risk behaviour between 1996 and 2008, according to age, among men who have sex with men (Scotland)." <u>Sexually Transmitted Infections</u> 87(3): 257-259.
- Langan, D., J. Higgins, W. Gregory and A. J. Sutton (2012). "Graphical augmentations to the funnel plot assess the impact of additional evidence on a meta-analysis." <u>Journal of</u> <u>clinical epidemiology</u> 65(5): 511-519.
- Lattimore, S., A. Thornton, V. Delpech and J. Elford (2011). "Changing patterns of sexual risk behavior among London gay men: 1998–2008." <u>Sexually Transmitted Diseases</u> **38**(3): 221-229.
- Lorimer, K., L. Kidd, M. Lawrence, K. McPherson, S. Cayless and F. Cornish (2013). "Systematic review of reviews of behavioural HIV prevention interventions among men who have sex with men." <u>AIDS Care</u> 25(2): 133-150.

- Lyles, C. M., L. S. Kay, N. Crepaz, J. H. Herbst, W. F. Passin, A. S. Kim, S. M. Rama, S. Thadiparthi, J. B. DeLuca and M. M. Mullins (2007). "Best-evidence interventions: Findings from a systematic review of HIV behavioral interventions for US populations at high risk, 2000-2004." <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 97(1): 133.
- Mandalia, S., R. Mandalia, G. Lo, T. Chadborn, P. Sharott, M. Youle, J. Anderson, G. Baily, R. Brettle and M. Fisher (2010). "Rising population cost for treating people living with HIV in the UK, 1997-2013." <u>PLoS One</u> 5(12): e15677.
- Michie, S., C. Abraham, C. Whittington, J. McAteer and S. Gupta (2009). "Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression." <u>Health</u> <u>Psychology</u> **28**(6): 690.
- Michie, S. and A. Prestwich (2010). "Are interventions theory-based? Development of a theory coding scheme." <u>Health Psychology</u> **29**(1): 1.
- Moher, D., A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff and D. G. Altman (2009). "Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement." <u>BMJ</u> **339**.
- NICE (2011). Increasing the Uptake of HIV Testing to Reduce Undiagnosed Infection and Prevent Transmission among Men Who have Sex with Men. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH34 (last accessed 26th Aug 2013).
- Noar, S. M., H. G. Black and L. B. Pierce (2009). "Efficacy of computer technology-based HIV prevention interventions: A meta-analysis." <u>AIDS</u> 23(1): 107-115.
- Noar, S. M., M. Chabot and R. S. Zimmerman (2008). "Applying health behavior theory to multiple behavior change: Considerations and approaches." <u>Preventive medicine</u> 46(3): 275-280.
- Phillips, A. N., V. Cambiano, F. Nakagawa, A. E. Brown, F. Lampe, A. Rodger, A. Miners, J. Elford, G. Hart and A. M. Johnson (2013). "Increased HIV incidence in men who have sex with men despite high levels of ART-induced viral suppression: analysis of an extensively documented epidemic." <u>PLoS One</u> 8(2): e55312.
- Pottie, K., G. Dahal, C. Logie and V. Welch (2011). "Rapid testing for improving uptake of HIV/AIDS services in people with HIV infection." <u>The Cochrane Library</u>.
- Sullivan, P. S., A. Carballo-DiÈguez, T. Coates, S. M. Goodreau, I. McGowan, E. J. Sanders, A. Smith, P. Goswami and J. Sanchez (2012). "Successes and challenges of HIV prevention in men who have sex with men." <u>The Lancet</u> **380**(9839): 388-399.
- Taylor, N., M. Conner and R. Lawton (2012). "The impact of theory on the effectiveness of worksite physical activity interventions: a meta-analysis and meta-regression." <u>Health</u> <u>Psychology Review</u> 6(1): 33-73.
- Welton, N. J., D. Caldwell, E. Adamopoulos and K. Vedhara (2009). "Mixed treatment comparison meta-analysis of complex interventions: psychological interventions in coronary heart disease." <u>American journal of epidemiology</u> 169(9): 1158-1165.
- Williamson, L. M., J. P. Dodds, D. E. Mercey, A. M. Johnson and G. J. Hart (2006). "Increases in HIV-related sexual risk behavior among community samples of gay men in London and Glasgow: how do they compare?" <u>JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency</u> <u>Syndromes</u> **42**(2): 238-241.